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1.	OPERATIONS  AND  GENERAL  INFORMATION  OF  THE  COMPANY
Siamese Asset Public Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as a limited company under Thai laws on March 11, 2010. The registered address is located at 1077/48 Phahon Yothin Road, Sam Sen Nai Subdistrict, Phaya Thai District, Bangkok. 
On October 7, 2019, the Company registered its conversion to a public company limited with the Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce and changed the Company’s name from Siamese Asset Company Limited to Siamese Asset Public Company Limited.
For reporting purposes, the Company, its subsidiaries and its joint venture are referred to as “the Group”.
As at September 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019 the Company’s major shareholder and ultimate shareholder is Mr. Kajonsit Singsansern, a Thai nationality natural person, holding 41.38% of the Company’s shares.
The principal business operations of the Company are property development for sale and management of real estate development projects and provide consulting and management services to the Group. 
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries and joint ventures as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
	
	
	
	Group ownership

	
	
	
	interest (%)

	
	
	
	As at 
	As at

	
	
	Country of
	September
	 December

	Name of entities
	Type of business
	incorporation
	30, 2020
	31, 2019

	
	
	
	
	

	Direct subsidiaries
	
	
	
	

	Siamese Surawong Co., Ltd.
	Property Development
	Thailand
	99.98
	99.98

	Siamese Sukhumvit Co., Ltd.
	Property Development
	Thailand
	99.99
	99.99

	Siamese Queens Co., Ltd.
	Property Development
	Thailand
	60.00
	60.00

	S Sukhumvit 87 Co., Ltd.
	Property Development
	Thailand
	94.04
	94.04

	Siamese Property Service Co., Ltd.
	Providing management service
	Thailand
	99.98
	99.98

	
	 for juristic person
	
	
	

	Siamese Praramkao Co., Ltd.
	Property Development
	Thailand
	86.90
	86.90

	Siamese Wealth Co., Ltd.
	Property Development
	Thailand
	99.99
	99.99

	Siamese Intelligence Co., Ltd.
	Training Center
	Thailand
	99.97
	99.97

	Joint Ventures
	
	
	
	

	Octo-Jet (Thai) Co., Ltd.
	Sales and real estate lease 
	Thailand
	51.00
	51.00

	Siamese and Kew Green Co., Ltd. (1)
	Providing hotel management service
	Thailand
	49.00
	-


(1) Such company became a joint venture of Siamese Wealth Co., Ltd. on February 24, 2020 as disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements. The ownership interest of such company has been presented by using the equity interest held by the subsidiary.
The Group and the Company have extensive transactions and relationships with its related parties. Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have existed or the results of operations that would have occurred had the Group and Company operated without such affiliations.



Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic
The Coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic is continuing to evolve, resulting in an economic slowdown and adversely impacting most businesses and industries. This situation may bring uncertainties and have an impact on the environment in which the group operates. Nevertheless, the Group’s and the Company’s management will continue to monitor the ongoing development and regularly assess the financial impact in respect of valuation of assets, provisions and contingent liabilities.
2.	BASIS  OF  PREPARATION  AND  PRESENTATION  OF  THE  INTERIM  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
2.1	Statement of compliance
(1) These interim consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in Thai Baht in accordance with Thai Accounting Standard No. 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” and accounting practices generally accepted in Thailand. The Company presents the condensed notes to the interim financial statements.
(2) The consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019, presented herein for comparison, have been derived from the consolidated and separate financial statements of the Company for the year then ended which had been previously audited.
(3) The unaudited results of operations presented in the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 are not necessarily an indication nor anticipation of the operating results for the full year.
(4) Certain financial information which is normally included in the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRSs”), but which is not required for interim reporting purposes, has been omitted. In addition, the interim financial statements for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019.
(5) An English version of the interim consolidated and company financial information has been prepared from the interim financial information that is in the Thai language. In the event of a conflict or a difference in interpretation between the two languages, the Thai language interim financial information shall prevail.
(6) Material intercompany transactions between the Group and the Company have been eliminated from this consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 have included the subsidiary’s interim financial information for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 which were reviewed.


(7) Judgments and estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (TFRSs) also requires the Group’s and the Company’s management to exercise judgments in order to determine the accounting policies, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the year. Although these estimates are based on management’s reasonable consideration of current events, actual results may differ from these estimates.
In preparing these interim financial statements, the significant judgments made by management in applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were the same as those that applied to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. Except for, Thai Financial Reporting Standards affecting the presentation and disclosure in the current period financial statements as describe in Notes 2.1 (8) and 2.1 (9) to the financial statements.
(8) Thai Financial Reporting Standards affecting the presentation and disclosure in the current period financial statements
During the period, the Group and the Company has adopted the revised and new financial reporting standards and guidelines on accounting issued by the Federation of Accounting Professions which become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards, with most of the changes directed towards revision of wording and terminology, and provision of interpretations and accounting guidance to users of standards. The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements, except the following financial reporting standards: 
Group of Financial Instruments Standards
Thai Accounting Standards (“TAS”)
TAS 32				Financial Instruments: Presentation
Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”)
TFRS 7				Financial Instruments: Disclosures
TFRS 9				Financial Instruments
Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations (“TFRIC”)
TFRIC 16			Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
TFRIC 19			Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments


These group of Standards make stipulations relating to the classification of financial instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortized cost; taking into account the type of instrument, the characteristics of the contractual cash flows and the Company’s business model, the calculation of impairment using the expected credit loss method, and the concept of hedge accounting. These include stipulations regarding the presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. These Standards supersede the Standards and Interpretations relating to the financial instruments.
Transition
The change in accounting of the group of Financial Instruments Standards has been applied in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions set out in TFRS 9 in which the Group and the Company have adopted these Financial Instruments Standards by recognizing the cumulative effect of initially adopting of these TFRSs. Cumulative effects of such change to the Group and the Company’s financial statements were summarized as follows:
The table below sets out the impact of adopting the Group of Financial Instruments Standards on the Group’s and the Company’s financial position.
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	
	The consolidated and separate 

	
	
	
	statements of financial position

	Presentation
	Recognized and remeasurement as under previous TFRSs
	Recognized and remeasurement as under new TFRSs
	Balance as at
January 1, 2020
as under previous TFRSs
	Effect from adoption TFRS 9
	Balance as at
January 1, 2020
as under new TFRSs

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Current assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Temporary
	
	
	
	
	

	invesments
	Amortized cost
	Amortized cost
	3,207
	(3,207)
	-

	Other current
	
	
	
	
	

	financial assets
	Amortized cost
	Amortized cost
	-
	3,207
	3,207


Thai Financial Reporting Standard No. 16 “Leases” (“TFRS 16”)
a) Impact of the new definition of a lease
The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. TFRS 16 determines whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This is in contrast to the focus on “risk and rewards” in TAS 17 and TFRIC 4.
The Group and the Company applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in TFRS 16 to all lease contracts entered into or changed on or after January 1, 2020 (whether it is a lessor or a leasee in the lease contract). In preparation for           the first-time application TFRS 16, the Group and the Company have carried out an implementation project. The project has shown that the new definition in TFRS 16 will not significantly change the scope of contracts that meet the definition of a lease for the Group and the Company.


b) Impact on Lessee Accounting
Former operating leases
TFRS 16 changes how the Group and the Company account for lease previously classified as operating leases under TAS 17, which were off statement of financial position.
Applying TFRS 16, for all leases (except as noted below), the Group and the Company
1) Recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position, initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments, with the right-of-use asset adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments in accordance with TFRS 16. 
2) Recognizes depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
3) Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and interest (presented within financing activities) in the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows.
Lease incentives (e.g. rent - free period) are recognized as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities whereas under TAS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive, amortized as a reduction of rental expenses on a straight line basis.
Under TFRS 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with TAS 36.
The Group and the Company has used the following practical expedients when applying the leases previously classified as operating leases applying TAS 17.
· The Group and the Company has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.
· The Group and the Company has adjusted the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application by the amount of provision for onerous leases recognized under TAS 37 in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to performing an impairment review.
· The Group and the Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to leases for which the lease term end within 12 months of the date of initial application.
· The Group and the Company has excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.
· The Group and the Company has used hindsight when determining the lease term when the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

Former finance leases
For leases, if any, that were classified as finance leases applying TAS 17, the carrying amount of the leased assets and obligations under finance leases measured applying TAS 17 immediately before the date of initial application is reclassified to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities respectively without any adjustments.
The right-of-use asset and the lease liability are accounted for applying TFRS 16 from January 1, 2020.
c) Impact on Lessor Accounting
TFRS 16 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under TFRS 16, a lessor continues to classify leases as either finance leases or operating leases and account for those two types of leases differently.
However, TFRS 16 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, in particular regarding how a lessor manages the risks arising from its residual interest in leased assets. 
Financial impact of the initial application of TFRS 16
The Group and the Company recognized lease liabilities in relation to leases, which had previously been classified as operating leases under the principles of TAS 17. The right-of-use assets were measured at amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognized in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the leases. The interest rate implicit in the leases applied to lease liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position on January 1, 2020 is 5.97% to 7.91%.
The table below sets out the impact of adopting TFRS 16 on the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements.


The consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at January 1, 2020
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The consolidated statement of financial position

	
	Balance as at 
	Effect from 
	Balance as at 

	
	January 1, 2020
	adoption
	January 1, 2020

	
	as under
	TFRS 16
	as under

	
	previous TFRSs
	
	new TFRSs

	Assets
	
	
	

	Non-current assets
	
	
	

	Property, plant and equipment
	1,891,937
	(2,459)
	1,889,478

	Rights-of-use assets
	-
	2,459
	2,459

	
	
	
	

	Liabilities
	
	
	

	Current liabilities
	
	
	

	Current portion of finance lease liabilities
	1,263
	(1,263)
	-

	Current portion of lease liabilities
	-
	1,263
	1,263

	
	
	
	

	Non-current liabilities
	
	
	

	Finance lease liabilities
	801
	(801)
	-

	Lease liabilities
	-
	801
	801



	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The separate statement of financial position

	
	Balance as at 
	Effect from 
	Balance as at 

	
	January 1, 2020
	adoption
	January 1, 2020

	
	as under
	TFRS 16
	as under

	
	previous TFRSs
	
	new TFRSs

	Assets
	
	
	

	Non-current assets
	
	
	

	Property, plant and equipment
	662,025
	(2,396)
	659,629

	Rights-of-use assets
	-
	2,396
	2,396

	
	
	
	

	Liabilities
	
	
	

	Current liabilities
	
	
	

	Current portion of finance lease liabilities
	1,226
	(1,226)
	-

	Current portion of lease liabilities
	-
	1,226
	1,226

	
	
	
	

	Non-current liabilities
	
	
	

	Finance lease liabilities
	797
	(797)
	-

	Lease liabilities
	-
	797
	797


Accounting Treatment Guidance on “The temporary relief measures for additional accounting alternatives to alleviate the impacts from COVID-19 outbreak”
This accounting treatment guidance is the option for all entities applying Financial Reporting Standards for Publicly Accountable Entities. Since the preparation of financial statements during the period, which COVID-19 situation still be highly uncertainty as at the end of reporting period may cause the entities’ management to use the critical judgment in the estimation or the measurement and recognition of accounting transactions. Objective of this accounting treatment guidance is to alleviate some of the impact of applying certain financial reporting standards, and to provide clarification about accounting treatments during the period of uncertainty relating to this situation. The entities can apply this accounting treatment guidance for the preparation of financial statements with the reporting period ending within the period from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020.


The Group and the Company has elected to adopt the following temporary relief measures:
-	Not to consider the COVID-19 situation as an indication that an asset may be impaired in accordance with TAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
-	Not to take into account forward-looking information when determining expected credit losses, in cases where the Group uses a simplified approach to determine expected credit losses.
(9) Thai Financial Reporting Standards announced in the Royal Gazette but not yet effective
The Federation of Accounting Professions has issued the Notification regarding Thai Accounting Standards, Thai Financial Reporting Standards, Thai Accounting Standards Interpretation and Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretation, which have been announced in the Royal Gazette and will be effective for the financial statements for  the period beginning on or after January 1, 2021 onwards. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards, with most of the changes directed towards revisions to references to the Conceptual Framework in TFRSs, except for the revisions of definitions and accounting requirements as follows:
Definition of Business
The revised Thai Financial Reporting Standard No.3 “Business Combinations” clearly clarifies the definition of business and introduce an optional concentration test. Under the optional concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets. This revised financial reporting standard requires prospective method for such amendment. Earlier application is permitted.
Definition of Materiality
The revised definition of materiality resulted in the amendment of Thai Accounting Standards No.1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and Thai Accounting Standards No.8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”, including other financial reporting standards which refer to materiality. This amendment is intended to make the definition of material to comply with the Conceptual Framework which requires prospective method for such amendment. Earlier application is permitted.
The Interest Rate Reform
Due to the interest rate reform, there are the amendments of specific hedge accounting requirements in Thai Financial Reporting Standard No.9 “Financial Instruments” and Thai Financial Reporting Standard No.7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.
The Group’s and the Company’s management will adopt such TFRSs in the preparation of the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements when it becomes effective.   The Group’s and the Company’s management is in the process to assess the impact of these TFRSs on the financial statements of the Group and the Company in the period of initial application.


(10) Significant accounting policies
The interim financial statements have been prepared based on the basis, accounting policies and method of computation consistent with those used in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 except for the change in the accounting policies due to the adoption of Group of Financial Instruments Standards and TFRS 16 “Leases”, as described in Note 2.1 (8) to the financial statements.
Financial instrument
Classification and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified and measured at amortized cost.
Impairment of financial assets
The Group and the Company recognize an allowance for expected credit losses on its financial assets which measured at amortized cost, without requiring a credit - impaired event to have occurred prior to the recognition. The Group and the Company account for changes in excepted credit losses in stages, with differing methods of determining allowance for credit losses and the effective interest rate applied at each stage.        An exception from this approach is that for trade receivables or contract asset that do not contain a significant financing component, the Group and the Company apply a simplified approach to determine the lifetime expected credit losses.
Leases
The Group and the Company have applied TFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up approach and therefore comparative information has not been restated and is presented under TAS 17. The details of accounting policies under both TAS 17 and TFRS 16 are presented as below.
The Group and the Company as lessee
The Group and the Company assess whether a contract is or contains a lease,      at inception of the contract. The Group and the Company recognize a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lease, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group and the Company recognize the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over    the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leases assets are consumed.


Lease liability
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group and the Company use its incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
· Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
· Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
· The amount expected to be payable by the lease under residual value guarantees;
· The exercise price of purchase options, if the lease is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
· Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.
Lease liabilities separately are presented in the consolidated and separate financial statements. 
The right-of-use assets
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use assets reflect that the Group and the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use assets are depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
Right-of-use assets separately are presented in the consolidated and separate financial statements.
2.2	Functional and presentation currency
The interim financial statements are prepared and presented in Thai Baht, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial information presented in notes to the financial statements has been rounded to the nearest thousand Baht unless otherwise stated. 


2.3	Retrospectively adjustment of financial statements
On May 8, 2020, the Board of Executive Committee of the Group and the Company have approved to restated the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 regarding the correction of error for the overstatement of inventories, in order that the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 presented as comparative information of the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at September 30, 2020, have been derived from the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 (restated) and the related consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2019, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019 presented as comparative information of the related consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020, have also been restated as follows:
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The consolidated statements of financial position

	
	As at December 31, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Inventories
	9,214,298
	(181,064)
	9,033,234

	Investment properties
	187,589
	(840)
	186,749

	Property, plant and equipment
	1,812,140
	79,797
	1,891,937

	Other non-current provisions
	10,900
	(197)
	10,703

	Retained earnings
	
	
	

	Unappropriated
	716,014
	(94,569)
	621,445

	Non-controlling interests
	190,528
	(7,341)
	183,187

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The consolidated statements of financial position

	
	As at January 1, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Inventories
	9,354,009
	(126,881)
	9,227,128

	Investment properties
	107,317
	(532)
	106,785

	Property, plant and equipment
	1,252,914
	35,844
	1,288,758

	Other non-current provisions
	8,033
	(89)
	7,944

	Retained earnings
	
	
	

	Unappropriated
	226,082
	(84,968)
	141,114

	Non-controlling interests
	73,971
	(6,512)
	67,459

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The separate statements of financial position

	
	As at December 31, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Inventories
	5,247,455
	(85,738)
	5,161,717

	Investment properties
	182,195
	(773)
	181,422

	Property, plant and equipment
	621,831
	40,194
	662,025

	Other non-current provisions
	9,227
	(130)
	9,097

	Retained earnings
	
	
	

	Unappropriated
	673,541
	(46,187)
	627,354




	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The separate statements of financial position

	
	As at January 1, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Inventories
	6,161,647
	(77,881)
	6,083,766

	Investment properties
	107,317
	(532)
	106,785

	Property, plant and equipment
	437,687
	26,198
	463,885

	Other non-current provisions
	7,340
	(33)
	7,307

	Retained earnings
	
	
	

	Unappropriated
	250,562
	(52,182)
	198,380

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The consolidated statement of profit or loss 

	
	and other comprehensive income

	
	For the three-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Cost of sales of real estate and goods
	(305,655)
	3,250
	(302,405)

	Distribution costs
	(77,201)
	(8,284)
	(85,485)

	Administrative expenses
	(53,353)
	17
	(53,336)

	Profit for the period
	9,472
	(5,017)
	4,455

	Total comprehensive income for
	
	
	

	the period
	9,472
	(5,017)
	4,455

	Basic earning per share (Baht : Share)
	0.014
	(0.005)
	0.009

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The consolidated statement of profit or loss 

	
	and other comprehensive income

	
	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Cost of sales of real estate and goods
	(1,607,155)
	17,791
	(1,589,364)

	Distribution costs
	(257,735)
	(21,677)
	(279,412)

	Administrative expenses
	(179,260)
	226
	(179,034)

	Profit for the period
	338,770
	(3,660)
	335,110

	Total comprehensive income for
	
	
	

	the period
	338,770
	(3,660)
	335,110

	Basic earning per share (Baht : Share)
	0.363
	(0.002)
	0.361

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The separate statement of profit or loss

	
	and other comprehensive income

	
	For the three-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Cost of sales of real estate and goods
	(294,410)
	3,250
	(291,160)

	Distribution costs
	(47,649)
	(1,768)
	(49,417)

	Administrative expenses
	(37,381)
	17
	(37,364)

	Profit for the period
	54,350
	1,499
	55,849

	Total comprehensive income for
	
	
	

	the period
	54,350
	1,499
	55,849

	Basic earning per share (Baht : Share)
	0.057
	0.001
	0.058

	
	
	
	




	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The separate statement of profit or loss 

	
	and other comprehensive income

	
	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Cost of sales of real estate and goods
	(1,595,910)
	17,791
	(1,578,119)

	Distribution costs
	(200,001)
	(6,959)
	(206,960)

	Administrative expenses
	(128,570)
	226
	(128,344)

	Profit for the period
	445,445
	11,058
	456,503

	Total comprehensive income for
	
	
	

	the period
	445,445
	11,058
	456,503

	Basic earning per share (Baht : Share)
	0.466
	0.011
	0.477

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

	
	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Total comprehensive income for
	
	
	

	the period
	338,770
	(3,660)
	335,110

	Balance as at September 30, 2019
	2,327,371
	(95,140)
	2,232,231

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The separate statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

	
	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Total comprehensive income for
	
	
	

	the period
	445,445
	11,058
	456,503

	Balance as at September 30, 2019
	2,390,097
	(41,124)
	2,348,973

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The consolidated statement of cash flows 

	
	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Profit for the period
	338,770
	(3,660)
	335,110

	Depreciation and amortization
	19,024
	21,548
	40,572

	Warranty expenses
	2,927
	-
	2,927

	Inventories
	(66,214)
	(17,888)
	(84,102)

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	The separate statement of cash flows 

	
	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	As previously reported
	Correction of error
	As restated

	
	
	
	

	Profit for the period
	445,445
	11,058
	456,503

	Depreciation and amortization
	18,402
	6,820
	25,222

	Warranty expenses
	2,927
	-
	2,927

	Inventories
	866,548
	(17,878)
	848,670




3. 	RELATED  PARTIES
Individuals or enterprises that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or are under common control with the Group, including holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries are related parties of the Group. Individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives them significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel of the Group and close members of the family of these individuals and companies associated with these individuals also constitute related parties. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.
Relationships with subsidiaries and joint venture are described in Notes 8 and 9 respectively. Relationships with other related parties are as follows:
	Name of entities
	Country of
	Nature of relationships

	
	incorporation
	

	Singsansern Co., Ltd.
	Thailand
	Common major shareholders

	Bangkok Accom Co., Ltd.
	Thailand
	Common major shareholders

	Kew Green Group Limited
	England
	Common directors / Shareholders of a joint venture

	Other persons and related parties
	Thailand
	Common directors / Major shareholders of the Company

	
	
	Common directors / Shareholders of subsidiaries

	
	
	Common person who has power and 

	
	
	responsible for planning, indirectly or 

	
	
	directly command and control business 

	
	
	operation including act as Director (whether

	
	
	has managed or not).

	Key Management Personnel
	
	Persons having authority and responsibility for 

	
	
	planning, directing and controlling the 

	
	
	activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, 

	
	
	including any director of the Group (whether

	
	
	executive or otherwise).


The pricing policies for related parties transactions are as follows:
	Transactions
	Pricing policies

	Revenue from sales of real estate
	According to the price determined in the contract

	Revenue from management fee 
	According to the price determined in the contract

	(Project management and management fee)
	

	Revenue from services
	According to the rate determined in the contract

	Interest
	According to the rate determined in the contract




Significant transactions with persons and related parties for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, were as follows:
	
	
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	For the three-month periods ended September 30,

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue from management fee
	-
	
	-
	
	10,774
	
	11,897

	Revenue from services
	-
	
	-
	
	  45
	
	1,048

	Interest income
	-
	
	-
	
	15,069
	
	14,590

	Service fee
	-
	
	-
	
	1,042
	
	2,956

	Interest expense (1)
	-
	
	-
	
	4,183
	
	6,073
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	Joint venture
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenues from sales of real estate
	11,093
	
	60,638
	
	11,093
	
	60,638

	Revenue from management fee
	155
	
	155
	
	155
	
	155

	Revenue from commission fee
	404
	
	1,166
	
	404
	
	1,166

	Interest income
	1,410
	
	792
	
	1,410
	
	792

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Related persons
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest expense (1)
	329
	
	329
	
	-
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Key management personnel
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term benefits
	9,080
	
	11,491
	
	8,462
	
	11,491

	Post-employment benefits
	314
	
	1,541
	
	308
	
	1,541



	
	
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	For the nine-month periods ended September 30,

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue from management fee
	-
	
	-
	
	27,811
	
	35,690

	Revenue from services
	-
	
	-
	
	354
	
	2,347

	Interest income
	-
	
	-
	
	42,065
	
	39,071

	Service fee
	-
	
	-
	
	2,708
	
	2,956

	Interest expense (1)
	-
	
	-
	
	12,611
	
	19,767

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Joint venture
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenues from sales of real estate
	47,361
	
	271,246
	
	47,361
	
	271,246

	Revenue from management fee
	464
	
	464
	
	464
	
	464

	Revenue from commission fee
	1,555
	
	1,166
	
	1,555
	
	1,166

	Interest income
	3,923
	
	2,629
	
	3,923
	
	2,629

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

	Related persons
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue from sales of real estate
	-
	
	15,846
	
	-
	
	15,846

	Interest expense (1)
	979
	
	975
	
	-
	
	-

	Commission fee
	283
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Key management personnel
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term benefits
	28,641
	
	29,166
	
	25,805
	
	29,166

	Post-employment benefits
	942
	
	3,966
	
	850
	
	3,966

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



(1) The interest expense during the period of the Group and the Company included the work in progress during the year
Balances with related parties as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
	
	
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	December
	
	September
	
	December

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	Trade receivables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	3,042
	
	5,132

	Joint venture
	6,482
	
	4,759
	
	6,482
	
	4,759

	Total
	6,482
	
	4,759
	
	9,524
	
	9,891

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other current receivables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accrued interest income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	13,519
	
	27,135

	Joint venture
	-
	
	2,162
	
	-
	
	2,162

	Total
	-
	
	2,162
	
	13,519
	
	29,297

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Others
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	1,466
	
	2,721

	Total
	-
	
	-
	
	1,466
	
	2,721

	[bookmark: _Hlk527131767]Total other current receivables
	-
	
	2,162
	
	14,985
	
	32,018

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Commission paid to obtain contracts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Related persons
	54
	
	155
	
	-
	
	-

	Total
	54
	
	155
	
	-
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans to related parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	820,756
	
	626,200

	Joint venture
	79,889
	
	45,980
	
	79,889
	
	45,980

	Total
	79,889
	
	45,980
	
	900,645
	
	672,180




Details of short-term borrowings to related parties which were repayable on demand and were unsecured borrowings denominated in Thai Baht, as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	

	Effective
	
	Contract
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	interest rate
	
	rate
	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	 December
	
	September
	
	 December
	
	September
	
	 December

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	(% per annum)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans to related parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Siamese Surawong Co., Ltd.
	7.00
	
	7.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	89,398
	
	102,000

	S Sukhumvit 87 Co., Ltd.
	7.00
	
	7.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	302,358
	
	159,000

	Siamese Property Service Co., Ltd.
	-
	
	7.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,200

	[bookmark: _Hlk527132039]Siamese Wealth Co., Ltd.
	7.00
	
	7.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	429,000
	
	362,000

	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	-
	
	820,756
	
	626,200

	Joint venture
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Octo-Jet (Thai) Co., Ltd.
	7.00
	
	7.00
	
	79,889
	
	45,980
	
	79,889
	
	45,980

	Total
	
	
	
	
	79,889
	
	45,980
	
	900,645
	
	672,180


Details of long-term loan to related party which were unsecured borrowings denominated in Thai Baht, as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Effective
	
	Contract
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	interest rate
	
	rate
	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	 December
	
	September
	
	 December
	
	September
	
	 December

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	(% per annum)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Long-term loan to related party
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiary
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Siamese Praramkao Co., Ltd.
	MLR-1.50
	
	7.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	125,000
	
	125,000




As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had short-term loans to related parties, (“Borrower”) in the amount of Baht 125.00 million. Such loan were unsecured and effective interest rate of MLR - 1.50 per annum which were repayable on demand (As at December 31, 2019 interest rate determined in the contract of 7.00% per annum). In order to meet the condition of long-term borrowings from the financial institutions, the Company consents to categorize such loans as subordinated loans which will be repaid from the Borrower after full repayment to the financial institutions and allowed the Borrower to issue additional share and converted subordinated loan into the share capital. The Company classified such short-term loans as long-term loans to related parties.

	
	
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	 December
	
	September
	
	 December

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	Other current payables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Advance received from agreements to 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	buy and to sell
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Joint venture
	254,381
	
	182,913
	
	254,381
	
	182,913

	Related persons
	22,185
	
	1,518
	
	21,758
	
	1,302

	Total
	276,566
	
	184,431
	
	276,139
	
	184,215

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accrued interest
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,527

	Related persons
	3,147
	
	2,168
	
	-
	
	-

	Total
	3,147
	
	2,168
	
	-
	
	1,527

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Others
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	608
	
	20,622

	Joint venture
	28,295
	
	48,588
	
	28,295
	
	48,588

	Related persons
	199
	
	282
	
	199
	
	282

	Total
	28,494
	
	48,870
	
	29,102
	
	69,492

	Total other current payables
	308,207
	
	235,469
	
	305,241
	
	255,234

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term borrowings from related parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	354,300
	
	255,300

	Total
	-
	
	-
	
	354,300
	
	225,300




Details of short-term borrowings from related parties which were repayable on demand and were unsecured borrowings denominated in Thai Baht, as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	Effective
	
	Contract
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	
	interest rate
	
	rate
	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	
	September
	
	 December
	
	September
	
	 December
	
	September
	
	 December

	
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	
	(% per annum)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term borrowings from 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	related parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Siamese Sukhumvit Co., Ltd.
	
	MLR-1.85
	
	5.30
	
	-
	
	-
	
	97,300
	
	155,300

	Siamese Queens Co., Ltd.
	
	7.00
	
	7.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	55,000
	
	100,000

	Siamese Praramkao Co., Ltd.
	
	MLR-1.50
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	202,000
	
	-

	Total
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	-
	
	354,300
	
	255,300


Details of long-term borrowings from related persons which were unsecured borrowings denominated in Thai Baht, as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
	
	
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht

	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	 December
	
	September
	
	 December

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	Long-term borrowings from related persons
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Related persons
	226,010
	
	226,010
	
	107,468
	
	107,468

	Total
	226,010
	
	226,010
	
	107,468
	
	107,468


Long-term borrowings from related persons
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had short-term borrowings from related persons which arising from directors and shareholders of the Company, (“Lender”) in the amount of Baht 107.47 million. Such borrowings were unsecured and interest-free which repayable on demand. In order to meet the condition of long-term borrowings from the financial institutions, the Lender consents to categorize such borrowings as subordinated loans which will be repaid after full repayment to the financial institutions and allowed the Company to issue additional share and converted subordinated loan into the share capital. As a result, the Group and the Company classified such short-term loan as long-term loan from related persons.
As at September 30, 2020 and Decem	ber 31, 2019, the Group had short-term borrowings from related persons which arising from directors and shareholders of the Group, (“Lender”) in the amount of Baht 118.54 million. Such borrowings were unsecured and effective interest rate of 1.10% per annum which were repayable on demand (As at December 31, 2019 interest rate determined in the contract of 1.10% per annum). In order to meet the condition of long-term borrowings from the financial institutions, the Lender consents to categorize such borrowings as subordinated loans which will be repaid after full repayment to the financial institutions and allowed the Group to issue additional share and converted subordinated loan into the share capital. As a result, the Group classified such short-term loan as long-term loan from related persons.


Significant agreements with related parties
· On September 16, 2019, the Company entered into a memorandum of understanding with a joint venture. The Company receives a commission fee and coordination fee as specified in the agreement. This contract is effective for retroactive periods from July 1, 2019 onwards.
· On February 21, 2020, the Company entered into a management agreement with related  subsidiaries and one joint venture to provide the human resource and general management service. The Company receives the human resource service fee according to the price determined in the contract. Such agreement is effective for retroactive from January 1, 2020 until December 31, 2020.
· On February 21, 2020, the Company entered into a management agreement with a subsidiary to provide the resource planning system services. The Company receives the resource planning system services fee as specified in the agreement. Such agreement is effective for retroactive from January 1, 2020 until December 31, 2020.
· On February 28, 2020, the Company entered into a management agreement with a subsidiary to provide a hotel management services to the Company. The Company pays the hotel management service fees as specified in the agreement. Such agreement is effective for retroactive from January 1, 2020 until December 31, 2020. The terms of this agreement can be renewed unless written termination notice shall be issued.
· In June 2020, the Group and the Company entered into hotel management agreements with a joint venture. Such joint venture will provide the hotel management services to the Group and the Company according to the price determined in the contract. Such agreements are effective from June 2020 onwards.
4.	CASH  AND  CASH  EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,
	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash
	762
	
	1,370
	
	629
	
	1,141

	Current account and savings account
	190,870
	
	370,496
	
	81,706
	
	47,867

	Total
	191,632
	
	371,866
	
	82,335
	
	49,008




5.	TRADE  AND  OTHER  CURRENT  RECEIVABLES
Trade and other current receivables as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
   Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	Note
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,
	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,

	
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Trade receivables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	3
	-
	
	-
	
	3,042
	
	5,132

	Joint venture
	3
	6,482
	
	4,759
	
	6,482
	
	4,759

	Other parties
	
	503
	
	3,358
	
	403
	
	2,758

	
	
	6,985
	
	8,117
	
	9,927
	
	12,649

	Less Allowance for expected credit losses
	
	(100)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Less Allowance for doubtful accounts
	
	-
	
	(545)
	
	-
	
	-

	Total trade receivables
	
	6,885
	
	7,572
	
	9,927
	
	12,649

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other current receivables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Advance payment for goods and services
	
	325,666
	
	252,769
	
	162,826
	
	154,198

	Less Allowance for expected credit losses
	
	(2,432)
	
	-
	
	(1,246)
	
	-

	Less Allowance for doubtful accounts
	
	-
	
	(2,432)
	
	-
	
	(1,246)

	
	
	323,234
	
	250,337
	
	161,580
	
	152,952

	Prepaid expenses
	
	18,457
	
	12,523
	
	15,110
	
	10,728

	Retention for utilities expense
	
	8,055
	
	10,514
	
	4,360
	
	7,396

	Accrued interest received
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- Subsidiaries
	3
	-
	
	-
	
	13,519
	
	27,135

	- Joint venture
	3
	-
	
	2,162
	
	-
	
	2,162

	
	
	-
	
	2,162
	
	13,519
	
	29,297

	Others
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- Subsidiaries
	3
	-
	
	-
	
	1,466
	
	2,721

	- Other parties
	
	6,006
	
	6,604
	
	2,576
	
	3,989

	
	
	6,006
	
	6,604
	
	4,042
	
	6,710

	Total other current receivables
	
	355,752
	
	282,140
	
	198,611
	
	207,083

	
	

	Total trade and other current
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   receivables
	
	362,637
	
	289,712
	
	208,538
	
	219,732

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Impairment loss determined in accordance with TFRS 9
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	expense for the three-month period ended September 30,
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	expense for the nine-month period  ended September 30,
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-




Trade receivables are classified by aging as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,
	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Not yet due
	-
	
	-
	
	2,093
	
	4,371

	Over due
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Up to 3 months
	-
	
	-
	
	323
	
	761

	Over 3 - up to 6 months
	-
	
	-
	
	626
	
	-

	Trade receivables - subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	3,042
	
	5,132

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Joint venture
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Not yet due
	425
	
	1,752
	
	425
	
	1,752

	Over due
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Up to 3 months
	-
	
	3,007
	
	-
	
	3,007

	Over 3 - up to 6 months
	1,238
	
	-
	
	1,238
	
	-

	Over 6 - up to 12 months
	4,819
	
	-
	
	4,819
	
	-

	Trade receivable - joint venture
	6,482
	
	4,759
	
	6,482
	
	4,759

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Not yet due
	336
	
	1,103
	
	336
	
	1,048

	Over due
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Up to 3 months
	9
	
	1,322
	
	9
	
	1,322

	Over 3 - up to 6 months
	58
	
	388
	
	58
	
	388

	Over 12 months
	100
	
	545
	
	-
	
	-

	
	503
	
	3,358
	
	403
	
	2,758

	Less Allowance for expected credit losses
	(100)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Less Allowance for doubtful accounts
	-
	
	(545)
	
	-
	
	-

	Trade receivables - other parties - net
	403
	
	2,813
	
	403
	
	2,758

	Total trade receivables
	6,885
	
	7,572
	
	9,927
	
	12,649


The normal credit term granted to the customers by the Group is 30 days.

6.	INVENTORIES
Inventories as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	
	financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,
	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”

	Land and project under development cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Land 
	4,061,097
	
	4,409,136
	
	2,188,380
	
	2,320,800

	Project under development cost
	2,132,510
	
	2,186,176
	
	755,871
	
	651,679

	Interest and finance cost
	536,087
	
	460,365
	
	391,729
	
	351,542

	
	6,729,694
	
	7,055,677
	
	3,335,980
	
	3,324,021

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Finished goods
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Office condominium and residential
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	suites
	1,694,618
	
	1,565,273
	
	1,034,188
	
	1,425,411

	Land and houses
	358,242
	
	420,774
	
	358,242
	
	420,775

	Less Allowance for decline in value 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	of inventory
	-
	
	(8,586)
	
	-
	
	(8,586)

	
	2,052,860
	
	1,977,461
	
	1,392,430
	
	1,837,600

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Supplies
	132
	
	96
	
	132
	
	96

	
	8,782,686
	
	9,033,234
	
	4,728,542
	
	5,161,717


As at September 30, 2020, the Group and the Company mortgaged certain land and project under development cost at net book value Baht 6,524.42 million and Baht 3,269.97 million, respectively (As at December 31, 2019 : Baht 6,758.83 million and Baht 3,231.31 million, respectively) as collateral for long-term debenture and credit facilities of financial institution (See Notes 18, 19 and 24).
As at September 30, 2020, the Group and the Company mortgaged certain finished goods at net book value Baht 1,832.62 million and Baht 1,197.05 million, respectively (As at December 31, 2019 : Baht 1,191.87 million and Baht 1,191.87 million, respectively) as collateral for debentures and credit facilities of financial institutions (See Notes 14, 15, 18, 19 and 24).
For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020, the Group and the Company recorded interest expenses as project under development cost of Baht 173.70 million and Baht 106.08 million, respectively (for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019 : Baht 209.03 million and Baht 145.36 million, respectively) (See Note 25.1).
For the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized gain on reversal of loss from decline in value of inventories and recognized loss on decline in value of inventories as cost of sales of real estate and goods in the statement of income of Baht 8.59 million and Baht 7.21 million, respectively.

7.	RESTRICTED  BANK  DEPOSITS
As at September 30, 2020, the Company held restricted deposits, denominated in Thai Baht, at financial institutions of Baht 62.21 million (As at December 31, 2019 : Baht 12.00 million) which consisted of:
1. As at September 30, 2020, fixed deposits with maturity within 6 months amounting of Baht 11.41 million is used as collateral for foreign credit lines of Baht 10.00 million and used as collateral for   foreign currency credit lines and / or hedge amount of Baht 1.41 million (As at December 31, 2019 : Fixed deposits with maturity within 6 months amounting of Baht 11.37 million is used as collateral for foreign credit lines of Baht 10.00 million and used as collateral for foreign currency credit lines and / or hedging credit lines of Baht 1.37 million) (See Note 24). 
2. As at September 30, 2020, fixed deposits with maturity within 3 months amounting to Baht 50.80 million were available for debentures which can be withdrawn but it need to placed with other assets as collateral that have 1.5 times of value of amount withdrawn (As at December 31, 2019 : Fixed deposits with maturity within 3 months amounting to Baht 0.63 million were available for debentures which can be withdrawn but it need to placed with other assets as collateral that have double value of amount withdrawn) (See Notes 14, 18 and 24).
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8. INVESTMENTS  IN  SUBSIDIARIES
Investments in subsidiaries as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Allowance of
	
	

	
	
	
	Ownership
	
	
	
	
	impairment
	
	Investments in subsidiaries

	Subsidiaries
	Type of business
	Notes
	Interest
	Paid-up share capital
	
	Cost method
	
	of investments
	
	Cost method - net

	
	
	
	As at
	As at
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	
	
	September
	December
	September
	
	December
	
	September
	
	December
	
	September
	
	December
	
	September
	
	December

	
	
	
	30, 2020
	31, 2019
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	
	
	(%)
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Siamese Surawong Co., Ltd.
	Property development
	
	99.98
	99.98
	1,000
	
	1,000
	
	13,148
	
	13,148
	
	-
	
	-
	
	13,148
	
	13,148

	Siamese Sukhumvit Co., Ltd.
	Property development
	
	99.99
	99.99
	149,485
	
	149,485
	
	378,337
	
	378,337
	
	-
	
	-
	
	378,337
	
	378,337

	Siamese Queens Co., Ltd.
	Property development
	
	60.00
	60.00
	217,000
	
	217,000
	
	130,200
	
	130,200
	
	-
	
	-
	
	130,200
	
	130,200

	S Sukhumvit 87 Co., Ltd.
	Property development
	
	94.04
	94.04
	10,000
	
	10,000
	
	9,404
	
	9,404
	
	-
	
	-
	
	9,404
	
	9,404

	Siamese Property Service Co., Ltd.
	Providing management
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Service for juristic person
	
	99.98
	99.98
	5,000
	
	5,000
	
	4,999
	
	4,999
	
	(4,999)
	
	(4,999)
	
	-
	
	-

	Siamese Praramkao Co., Ltd.
	Property development
	8.1
	86.90
	86.90
	10,000
	
	10,000
	
	8,690
	
	8,690
	
	-
	
	-
	
	8,690
	
	8,690

	Siamese Wealth Co., Ltd.
	Property development
	
	99.99
	99.99
	20,000
	
	20,000
	
	20,000
	
	20,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	20,000
	
	20,000

	Siamese Intelligence Co., Ltd.
	Training Center
	8.2
	99.97
	99.97
	1,000
	
	1,000
	
	1,000
	
	1,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,000
	
	1,000

	Total
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	565,778
	
	565,778
	
	(4,999)
	
	(4,999)
	
	560,779
	
	560,779


All subsidiaries operate in Thailand
8.1 Siamese Praramkao Co., Ltd
On October 27, 2020, the Extraodinary General Meeting of shareholders of the Company passed a special resolution to approve the increase in registered its share capital of Baht 30.00 million from previous share capital of Baht 10.00 million to be Baht 40.00 million, by issuing 300,000 common shares of Baht 100 per share to shareholders in proportion.
8.2 Siamese Intelligence Co., Ltd.
On August 22, 2019, the Board of Directors of the Company passed a resolution to approve the establishment of Siamese Intelligence Co., Ltd. as a subsidiary to operate the training center. The registered capital is 10,000 ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 100 each, totalling Baht 1.00 million. Such subsidiary was registered with the Department of Business Development, the Ministry of Commerce on August 28, 2019. The Company invested in such subsidiary by Baht 1.00 million, holding 99.97%.

9. INVESTMENTS  IN  JOINT  VENTURES
Investments in joint ventures as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	Companies
	Type of business
	Ownership interest 
	
	Equity method
	
	Cost method

	
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	
	September 
	
	December 
	
	September
	
	December 
	
	September
	
	December 

	
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	
	(%)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Octo-Jet (Thai) Co., Ltd.
	Sales and real
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	estate lease
	51.00
	
	51.00
	
	67,874
	
	66,718
	
	28,458
	
	28,458

	Siamese and Kew Green 
	Providing 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Co., Ltd.
	management
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	service for hotel
	49.00
	
	-
	
	1,947
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	69,821
	
	66,718
	
	28,458
	
	28,458


[bookmark: _Hlk516560667]Siamese and Kew Green Co., Ltd.
On February 24, 2020, Board of Directors of the Company passed a resolution to approve the establishment of Siamese and Kew Green Co., Ltd. as a joint venture. The registered capital is 40,000  ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 100 each, totaling Baht 4.00 million. Such joint venture was registered with the Department of Business Development, the Ministry of Commerce on March 2, 2020. Siamese Wealth Co.,Ltd. invested in such joint veture by Baht 2.00 million, holding by 49% which was classified as a joint venture according to terms of the shareholder agreement that requires joint control.
Movements of the investments in joint ventures during the nine-month periods ended September 30, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	Consolidated financial 

	
	
	statements

	
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	
	

	As at January 1,
	
	66,718
	
	51,347

	Cash paid for purchasing investment in joint venture
	
	1,960
	
	-

	[bookmark: _Hlk528002062]Share of profit of investment in joint venture
	
	1,143
	
	10,490

	As at September 30,
	
	69,821
	
	61,837





10. LAND  AND  COST  OF  PROJECT  AWAITING  FOR  DEVELOPMENT
Land and cost of project awaiting for development as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:	
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated and separate financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,

	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	

	Land
	244,926
	
	245,297

	Land development and construction costs
	7,646
	
	7,658

	
	252,572
	
	252,955


As at September 30, 2020, the Company had mortgaged wholly land and project development costs amounting to Baht 252.57 Million as collateral for credit lines from a financial institution  (As at December 31, 2019 : Baht 252.96 Million) (See Notes 19 and 24).
11. INVESTMENT  PROPERTIES
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial
	
	financial

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	
	
	

	Net book value as at January 1, 2020 - As restated
	186,749
	
	181,422

	Additions during the period - Cost 
	2,584
	
	2,584

	Transferred from inventories
	298,283
	
	172,430

	Disposal - Net book value as at disposal date
	(18,415)
	
	-

	Depreciation for the period
	(8,437)
	
	(6,115)

	Net book value as at September 30, 2020
	460,764
	
	350,321


As at September 30, 2020, the Group and the Company mortgaged certain investment properties at net book value of Baht 268.15 million and 176.56 million, respectively, (As at December 31, 2019 : Baht 23.34 million and 23.34 million, respectively) as collateral for debentures and credit facilities of financial institutions (See Notes 14, 15, 18, 19 and 24).


12. PROPERTY,  PLANT  AND  EQUIPMENT
Unit : Thousand Baht
	[bookmark: _Hlk528005247]
	Consolidated
	
	Separate

	
	financial
	
	financial

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	
	
	

	Net book value as at January 1, 2020 - under previous TFRSs
	
	
	

	- as restated
	1,891,937
	
	662,025

	Effect from adoption TFRS 16 (See Note 2.1 (8))
	(2,459)
	
	(2,396)

	Net book value as at January 1, 2020 - under new TFRSs
	1,889,478
	
	659,629

	Additions during the period - Cost (1)
	576,958
	
	320,085

	Transferred from inventories
	40,038
	
	40,038

	Transferred to inventories
	(92,671)
	
	(92,671)

	Disposal - Net book value as at disposal date
	(210)
	
	(150)

	[bookmark: _Hlk528002030][bookmark: _Hlk528002145]Depreciation for the period
	(44,252)
	
	(29,296)

	Net book value as at September 30, 2020
	2,369,341
	
	897,635


(1) The additional purchase during the period of the Group and the Company included the work in progress during the year. 
As at September 30, 2020, the Group and the Company mortgaged certain land and its certain construction at net book value of Baht 2,029.96 million and 571.05 million, respectively, (As at December 31, 2019 : Baht 649.99 million and Baht 193.68 million, respectively) as collateral for long-term debenture and credit facilities from financial institutions (See Notes 18, 19 and 24). 
13. OTHER  NON-CURRENT  ASSETS
Other non-current assets as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	December 
	
	September
	
	December 

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Refundable withholding tax 
	8,182
	
	7,564
	
	4,605
	
	4,604

	Retention receivable
	20
	
	20
	
	20
	
	20

	Others
	1,796
	
	530
	
	1,674
	
	414

	Total
	9,998
	
	8,114
	
	6,299
	
	5,038


[bookmark: OLE_LINK1]

14. SHORT-TERM  DEBENTURES
Short-term debentures as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial 

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	December
	
	September
	
	December 

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term debentures
	100,000
	
	-
	
	100,000
	
	-

	Less	Cost of debentures issuing
	(112)
	
	-
	
	(112)
	
	-

	
	99,888
	
	-
	
	99,888
	
	-


As at September 30, 2020, the Company had short-term debentures which were named-registered certificate and unsubordinated of 100,000 units, Baht 1,000 each, in totalling Baht 100.00 million, denominated in Thai Baht. The maturity date is October 15, 2020 and interest is payable on a quarterly basis with contract interest rate at 7.00% per annum and effective interest rate at 9.69% per annum. Such debentures are guaranteed by certain land and construction which have been recorded as inventories, fixed deposits with a financial institution and certain investment property of the Group and the Company (As at December 31, 2019 : Nil) (See Notes 6, 7, 11 and 24). On October 15, 2020, the Company made a repayment of such short-term debenture in full amount.
15. SHORT-TERM  BORROWINGS  FROM  FINANCIAL  INSTITUTIONS
Short-term borrowings from financial institutions as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial 

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	December
	
	September
	
	December 

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	Short-term borrowings from financial institutions
	100,000
	
	132,000
	
	100,000
	
	132,000

	Less	Cost of borrowings issuing
	(112)
	
	(205)
	
	(112)
	
	(205)

	
	99,888
	
	131,795
	
	99,888
	
	131,795


As at September 30, 2020, the Company had short-term loans from financial institutions which were bill of exchange of Baht 100.00 million, denominated in Thai Baht. The maturity date is October 15, 2020 and interest is payable on a quarterly basis with contract interest rate at 7.00% per annum and effective interest rate at 9.69% per annum. The loans are guaranteed by the Company’s certain land and construction which have been recorded as inventories and investment properties (See Notes 6, 11 and 24). On October 15, 2020, the Company made a repayment of such short-term borrowing in full amount.


As at December 31, 2019, the Company had short-term loans from financial institutions which were bill of exchange of Baht 100 million, denominated in Thai Baht. The maturity date is January 23, 2020 and interest is payable on a quarterly basis with interest rate determined in the contract at 7.00% per annum. The loans are guaranteed by the Company’s certain land and construction which have been recorded as inventories (See Notes 6 and 24). The Company had additional short-term borrowing with another financial institution in the amount of Baht 32.00 million, denominated in Thai Baht, which is due on June 11, 2020 and interest is payable on a monthly basis with interest rate determined in the contract at 9.00% per annum. The loans are guaranteed by the Company’s certain land and construction which have been recorded as inventories (See Notes 6 and 24). 
16. TRADE  AND  OTHER  CURRENT  PAYABLES
Trade and other current payables as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Note
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial 

	
	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	
	September
	
	December 
	
	September
	
	December

	
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	Trade payables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other parties
	
	275,433
	
	394,206
	
	101,002
	
	192,967

	Total trade payables
	
	275,433
	
	394,206
	
	101,002
	
	192,967

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other current payables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other payables - other parties
	
	31,537
	
	62,002
	
	17,688
	
	48,426

	Advance received from agreement to buy
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   and to sell
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- Joint venture
	3
	254,381
	
	182,913
	
	254,381
	
	182,913

	- Related persons
	3
	22,185
	
	1,518
	
	21,758
	
	1,302

	- Other parties
	
	2,585,633
	
	2,610,667
	
	952,111
	
	905,160

	Total advance received from agreement to buy
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    and to sell
	
	2,862,199
	
	2,795,098
	
	1,228,250
	
	1,089,375

	Retention payables
	
	67,975
	
	73,004
	
	55,358
	
	60,634

	Accrued interest expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- Subsidiaries
	3
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,527

	- Related persons
	3
	3,147
	
	2,168
	
	-
	
	-

	- Other parties
	
	14,897
	
	13,641
	
	11,493
	
	10,442

	Total accrued interest expenses
	
	18,044
	
	15,809
	
	11,493
	
	11,969

	Accrued bonus expenses
	
	37,119
	
	37,156
	
	21,024
	
	21,060

	Accrued sale promotion expenses
	
	4,031
	
	8,271
	
	3,671
	
	4,492

	Accrued commission
	
	19,058
	
	2,688
	
	9,106
	
	2,688

	Accrued expenses
	
	4,241
	
	11,847
	
	2,281
	
	5,332

	Withholding tax payable
	
	4,418
	
	6,285
	
	2,384
	
	4,204

	Corporate creditors and customers
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ownership transferring fee
	
	22,545
	
	14,835
	
	15,564
	
	4,456

	Others
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- Subsidiaries
	3
	-
		-
	
	-



	-
	
	608
	
	20,622

	- Joint venture
	3
	28,295
	
	48,588
	
	28,295
	
	48,588

	- Related persons
	3
	199
	
	282
	
	199
	
	282

	- Other parties
	
	8,136
	
	9,021
	
	5,528
	
	6,579

	Total others
	
	36,630
	
	57,891
	
	34,630
	
	76,071

	Total other current payables
	
	3,107,797
	
	3,084,886
	
	1,401,449
	
	1,328,707

	Total trade and other current payables
	
	3,383,230
	
	3,479,092
	
	1,502,451
	
	1,521,674


15. 

17. SHORT-TERM  BORROWINGS  FROM  OTHER  PARTIES
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Group had short-term borrowings from a domestic party which were denominated in Thai Baht, amounting to Baht 50.00 million. Such borrowing bears effective interest rate of 1.37% per annum, is repayable on demand and is unsecured borrowing (As at December 31, 2019 interest rate determined in the contract of 1.37% per annum).
18. LONG-TERM  DEBENTURES
Long-term debentures as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows: 
Unit : Thousand Baht
	Date of issue
	Unit
	Contract
	Effective 
	Maturity 
	Maturity date 
	Consolidated and 

	
	
	interest 
	interest 
	date of
	of principle
	separate financial 

	
	
	rate per
	rate per
	interest
	
	statements

	
	
	annum
	annum
	
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	
	
	
	
	
	September
	
	December 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	April 29, 2019
	100,000
	Fixed at 7.25%
	8.93%
	Quarterly
	October 29, 2020
	100,000
	
	100,000

	May 30, 2019
	400,000
	Fixed at 7.50%
	8.64%
	Quarterly
	February 24, 2021
	400,000
	
	400,000

	November 22, 2019
	550,000
	Fixed at 7.50%
	8.53%
	Quarterly
	November 21, 2021
	550,000
	
	550,000

	March 26, 2020
	100,000
	Fixed at 7.50%
	9.27%
	Quarterly
	March 25, 2022
	100,000
	
	-

	Total debentures
	
	
	
	
	
	1,150,000
	
	1,050,000

	Less Cost of debentures issuing
	
	
	
	(10,211)
	
	(16,153)

	
	
	
	
	1,139,789
	
	1,033,847

	Less Current portion
	
	
	
	(491,333)
	
	(89,156)

	 Long-term debentures
	
	
	
	648,456
	
	944,691


As at September 30, 2020, the Company had long-term debentures. Such long-term debentures were denominated in Thai Baht, named-registered certificate and unsubordinated of 1,150,000 units, Baht 1,000 each, in totalling Baht 1,150.00 million. Such debentures are guaranteed by certain fixed deposit with financial instituations, finish goods, investment properties and property plant and equipment of the Group and the Company (See Notes 6, 7, 11, 12 and 24). On October 29, 2020, the Company had made a repayment of the long-term borrowing which has maturity date on October 29, 2020 in the amount of Baht 100 million.
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had long-term debentures. Such long-term debentures were denominated in Thai Baht, named-registered certificate and unsubordinated of 1,050,000 units, Baht 1,000 each, in totalling Baht 1,050.00 million. Such debentures are guaranteed by fixed deposits with financial institutions and certain finish goods of the Group and the Company (See Notes 6, 7 and 24).


19. LONG-TERM  BORROWINGS  FROM  FINANCIAL  INSTITUTIONS
Long-term borrowings from financial institutions as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial 

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September
	
	December
	
	September
	
	December 

	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Long-term borrowings from financial institutions
	5,329,451
	
	5,339,046
	
	2,646,820
	
	2,725,249

	Less	Cost of borrowings issuing
	(17,875)
	
	(20,962)
	
	(4,305)
	
	(6,459)

	
	5,311,576
	
	5,318,084
	
	2,642,515
	
	2,718,790

	Less	Current portion
	(1,407,448)
	
	(1,189,493)
	
	(1,245,113)
	
	(713,601)

	
	3,904,128
	
	4,128,591
	
	1,397,402
	
	2,005,189


As at September 30, 2020, the Group and the Company had long-term credit facilities which were denominated in Thai Baht from various financial institutions amounting to Baht 13,425.83 million and Baht 6,585.26 million, respectively (As at December 31, 2019 : Baht 13,307.02 million and Baht 6,473.59 million, respectively) bearing effective interest rates of MLR - 2.00% per annum to MLR per annum. Such borrowings are secured by assets of the Group which consist of certain land and construction of the Group and the Company which have been recorded as inventories, land and cost of project awaiting for development, investment properties and property plant and equipment and guaranteed by the Company and the Company’s director in full amount (See Notes 6, 10, 11, 12 and 24). There was condition that the Company is required to maintain the shareholders structure and debt to equity ratio according to the proportion determined in the loan agreement. Most of borrowings are repayable as determined in the contract, except that the collateral is released from the financial institution, the borrowings are repayable according to the proportion of the released collateral. The Group and the Company must repay all borrowings within 2020 - 2032.
On November 4, 2020, the Company obtained approval to extend the maturity date of long-term credit facility and long-term borrowings from a financial institution amounting to Baht 160.00 million and Baht 83.88 million, respectively, from the original date of October 28, 2020 to October 28, 2021. Such approval is effective from October 22, 2020.
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company and its subsidiaries were able to comply with certain covenants to maintain certain financial ratios and others which were specified in agreements.


20. LONG-TERM  BORROWINGS  FROM  OTHER  PARTY
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Group had short-term borrowings from other party which were denominated in Thai Baht amounting to Baht 36.76 million. Such borrowings bear effective interest rate of 1.10 % per annum which were repayable on demand and is unsecured borrowing. In order to meet the condition of long-term borrowings from the financial institutions, lenders consent to categorize such borrowings as subordinated loans which will be repaid after full repayment to the financial institutions and allowed the Group to issue additional share and converted subordinated loan into the share. The Group classified such short-term loan as long-term loan from other party.
21. SHARE  CAPITAL
21.1	On October 7, 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders passed the resolutions to change in the Company’s status to a public company limited and changed of the par value of its ordinary shares from 9,615,473 shares at Baht 100 each to 961,547,300 shares at Baht 1 each. In addition, the meeting approved the increase in the Company’s registered capital from Baht 961.55 million (961,547,300 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each) to Baht 1,281.55 million (1,281,547,300 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each) by issuing additional 320,000,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each, to be offered through initial public offering. The Company registered the increase in its registered share and the change in the par value of the share with the Department of Business Development on October 7, 2019.
21.2	During 2019, The Company received subscription payment from shareholders which was sold in previous years was Baht 125.23 million. The Company has already registered its receipt of subscription payment with the Department of Business Development.
21.3	Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535 requires that a company shall allocate not less than 5% of its annual net profit less the accumulated losses brought forward, if any, to a reserve account (“Legal reserve”), until this account reaches an amount not less than 10% of the registered capital. The legal reserve is not available for dividend distribution. During 2019, the Company had increased legal reserve in amounting to Baht 22.26 million.
22. INCOME  TAX  EXPENSE
For consolidated financial statements for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020, the effective tax rate of the Group is not equal to tax rate according to the Revenue Code. Since the Group has adjusted items for calculation Corporate income tax in accordance with the Revenue Code.


23. BASIC  EARNINGS  PER  SHARE
Basic earnings per share for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, were calculated from profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group and the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares that were issued during each year. Basic earnings per share for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 which were calculated including an effect of change of the par value (See Note 21) in order to represent a change in earnings per share as a result of such change of the par value of such ordinary shares as follows:
For the three-month periods ended September 30,
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht/Thousand shares 

	
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial 

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”

	Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Company (Basic)
	191,382
	
	8,969
	
	122,866
	
	55,849

	Weighted average number of ordinary shares (Basic)
	961,547
	
	958,716
	
	961,547
	
	958,716

	Basic earnings per share (Baht)
	0.199
	
	0.009
	
	0.128
	
	0.058


For the nine-month periods ended September 30,
	
	Unit : Thousand Baht/Thousand shares 

	
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial 

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”

	Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Company (Basic)
	194,564
	
	344,858
	
	53,622
	
	456,503

	Weighted average number of ordinary shares (Basic)
	961,547
	
	956,157
	
	961,547
	
	956,157

	Basic earnings per share (Baht)
	0.202
	
	0.361
	
	0.056
	
	0.477




24. ASSETS  USED  AS  COLLATERAL
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Notes
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial

	
	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	
	September
	
	December
	
	September
	
	December

	
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019
	
	30, 2020
	
	31, 2019

	
	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”

	Land and project under development cost
	6
	6,524,417
	
	6,758,825
	
	3,269,964
	
	3,231,305

	Finished goods
	6
	1,832,618
	
	1,191,872
	
	1,197,049
	
	1,191,872

	Restricted bank deposits
	7
	62,206
	
	12,008
	
	62,206
	
	12,008

	Land and cost of project awaiting for
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	development 
	10
	252,572
	
	252,955
	
	252,572
	
	252,955

	Investment properties
	11
	268,152
	
	23,337
	
	176,559
	
	23,337

	Property, plant and equipment
	12
	2,029,955
	
	649,991
	
	571,054
	
	193,684

	
	
	10,969,920
	
	8,888,988
	
	5,529,404
	
	4,905,161


25. ADDITIONAL  INFORMATION  RELATED  TO  CASH  FLOWS
25.1	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020, the Group and the Company recognized the interest expenses for project under development cost amounting to Baht 173.70 million and Baht 106.08 million, respectively. (For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019 : Baht 209.03 million and Baht 145.36 million, respectively) (See Note 6).
25.2	Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities for the nine-month periods ended September 30, were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	As at
	
	Cash flows
	
	Non-cash change
	
	As at

	
	January 1,
	
	Provided by
	
	
	
	September 30,

	
	2020
	
	(used in) net
	
	
	
	2020

	Short-term debentures
	-
	
	100,000
	
	(112)
	
	99,888

	Short-term borrowings from financial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	institutions
	131,795
	
	(32,000)
	
	93
	
	99,888

	Long-term debentures
	1,033,847
	
	100,000
	
	5,942
	
	1,139,789

	Long-term borrowings from financial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	institutions
	5,318,084
	
	(9,596)
	
	3,088
	
	5,311,576

	Lease liabilities
	2,064
	
	(1,060)
	
	-
	
	1,004





Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	As at
	
	Cash flows
	
	Non-cash change
	
	As at

	
	January 1,
	
	Provide by
	
	
	
	September 30,

	
	2019
	
	(used in ) net
	
	
	
	2019

	Short-term borrowings from financial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	institutions
	-
	
	100,000
	
	(1,025)
	
	98,975

	Short-term borrowings from related persons
	118,543
	
	-
	
	(118,543)
	
	-

	Short-term borrowings from other parties
	86,763
	
	-
	
	(36,763)
	
	50,000

	Long-term debentures
	593,083
	
	500,000
	
	(1,969)
	
	1,091,114

	Long-term borrowings from financial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	institutions
	6,077,633
	
	(561,053)
	
	9,091
	
	5,525,671

	Finance lease liabilities
	4,012
	
	(1,446)
	
	-
	
	2,566

		Long-term borrowings from related persons



	107,468
	
	-
	
	118,543
	
	226,011

	Long-term borrowings from other parties
	-
	
	-
	
	36,763
	
	36,763


Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	As at
	
	Cash flows
	
	Non-cash change
	
	As at

	
	January 1,
	
	Provide by
	
	
	
	September 30,

	
	2020
	
	(used in) net
	
	
	
	2020

	Short-term debentures
	-
	
	100,000
	
	(112)
	
	99,888

	Short-term borrowings from financial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	institutions
	131,795
	
	(32,000)
	
	93
	
	99,888

	Short-term borrowings from related parties
	255,300
	
	99,000
	
	-
	
	354,300

	Long-term debentures
	1,033,847
	
	100,000
	
	5,942
	
	1,139,789

	Long-term borrowings from financial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	institutions
	2,718,790
	
	(78,428)
	
	2,153
	
	2,642,515

	Lease liabilities
	2,023
	
	(1,030)
	
	-
	
	993


Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	As at
	
	Cash flows
	
	Non-cash change
	
	As at

	
	January 1,
	
	Provide by
	
	
	
	September 30,

	
	2019
	
	(used in) net
	
	
	
	2019

	Short-term borrowings from financial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	institutions
	-
	
	100,000
	
	(1,025)
	
	98,975

	Short-term borrowings from related parties
	485,700
	
	(153,400)
	
	-
	
	332,300

	Long-term debentures
	593,083
	
	500,000
	
	(1,969)
	
	1,091,114

	Long-term borrowings from financial
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	institutions
	3,627,985
	
	(1,011,181)
	
	3,438
	
	2,620,242

	Finance lease liabilities
	3,929
	
	(1,412)
	
	-
	
	2,517


25.3 	Change in asset arising from operating activities and investing activities for the nine-month periods ended September 30, were as follows:
Unit: Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial 

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Inventories transfers to investment property
	298,283
	
	70,002
	
	172,430
	
	64,547

	Inventories transfers to property, plant
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	and equipment
	40,038
	
	130,337
	
	40,038
	
	130,337

	Property, plant and equipment to
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	inventories 
	92,671
	
	-
	
	92,671
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


26. COMMITMENTS  AND  CONTINGENT  LIABILITIES
26.1	As at September 30, 2020, the Group and the Company had commitments for remaining construction project contract with contractors of Baht 986.59 million and Baht 383.85 million, respectively (As at December 31, 2019 : Baht 1,623.98 million and Baht 671.72 million, respectively).
26.2 	The Group and the Company entered into lease and service agreements. The future minimum lease payments required under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:
Unit : Thousand 
	
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial 

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,
	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Within 1 year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Thai Baht (THB)
	9,832
	
	8,090
	
	4,625
	
	2,640

	US Dollar (USD)
	14
	
	-
	
	4
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Later than 1 year but not 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	later than 5 years
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	US Dollar (USD)
	56
	
	-
	
	14
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Later than 5 years
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	US Dollar (USD)
	70
	
	-
	
	18
	
	-


26.3	The Group and the Company had commitments from letter of guarantee which were issued by financial institutions on behalf of the Group and the Company to comply with normal course of business as following outstanding balance:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated financial 
	
	Separate financial

	
	statements
	
	statements

	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at
	
	As at

	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,
	
	September 30,
	
	December 31,

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	Letter of Guarantee for providing and 
  maintenance infrastructure
	16,814
	
	16,814
	
	16,814
	
	16,814

	Letter of Guarantee for purchasing goods
	1,449
	
	1,949
	
	1,449
	
	1,949

	Letter of Guarantee for electricity usage
	880
	
	880
	
	-
	
	-

	
	19,143
	
	19,643
	
	18,263
	
	18,763


26.4	As at December 31, 2019, the Group had commitments from avals issued by banks of Baht 211.50 million, such avals are secured by certain land and project under development cost Aval tickets due on May 26, 2020 And the contract will force to change to a loan and calculating interest from May 27, 2020, ending the contract on June 26, 2022 (As at September 30, 2020 : Nil) (See Notes 6 and 24).


27. SEGMENT  INFORMATION  AND  DISAGGREGATION  OF  REVENUE
Segment information is presented in accordance with the Group internal report which Chief Operating Decision-Maker has consistently received and reviewed for making decision to allocate resources and assessed result of operation of each segment. For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on the products and services they provide. The Group has two reportable segments as follows:
Segment 1 include Real estate development segment is a real estate development business which is a single house, townhouse and condominium.
Segment 2 include Service segment is a business segment comprising of business services and building management.
Geographical segments
The Group manages and operates principally in Thailand. There are no material revenues derived from or assets located in foreign countries. 
Major Customer
No single customer represents a major customer because the Group has large number of customers, who are end users covering business and individuals. 
During the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Group had no revenue from sales of real estate and services to any third party customers with a payment of 10% or more of total revenues. 


Segments performance classified by type of business and revenues in the consolidated financial statements for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

	
	For the three-month periods ended September 30,

	
	Property development 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	segment
	
	Service segment
	
	Other segment
	
	Total

	
	At a point in time
	
	Overtime
	
	At a point in time
	
	Overtime
	
	

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenues
	1,274,259
	
	469,974
	
	8,068
	
	9,826
	
	1,973
	
	484
	
	2,117
	
	518
	
	1,286,417
	
	480,802

	Costs
	(779,699)
	
	(302,405)
	
	(9,224)
	
	(3,675)
	
	(3,276)
	
	(765)
	
	(4,701)
	
	(6,994)
	
	(796,900)
	
	(313,839)

	Gross profit
	494,560
	
	167,569
	
	(1,156)
	
	6,151
	
	(1,303)
	
	(281)
	
	(2,584)
	
	(6,476)
	
	489,517
	
	166,963

	Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	42,827
	
	7,645

	Distribution cost 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(182,170)
	
	(85,485)

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(61,343)
	
	(53,336)

	Profit from operating activities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	288,831
	
	35,787

	Finance income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	1,415
	
	836

	Finance costs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(31,686)
	
	(15,600)

	Share of profit (loss) of investment in 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  joint venture
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	845
	
	(9,096)

	Profit before tax expense 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	259,405
	
	11,927

	Tax expense
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(62,172)
	
	(7,472)

	Profit for the period 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	197,233
	
	4,455




Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

	
	For the nine-month periods ended September 30,

	
	Property development 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	segment
	
	Service segment
	
	Other segment
	
	Total

	
	At a point in time
	
	Overtime
	
	At a point in time
	
	Overtime
	
	

	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2020
	
	2019

	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”
	
	
	
	“Restated”

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenues
	1,949,414
	
	2,491,718
	
	24,512
	
	24,820
	
	5,092
	
	483
	
	4,969
	
	2,327
	
	1,983,987
	
	2,519,348

	Costs
	(1,087,277)
	
	(1,589,364)
	
	(20,042)
	
	(15,849)
	
	(7,025)
	
	(765)
	
	(15,139)
	
	(7,641)
	
	(1,129,483)
	
	(1,613,619)

	Gross profit
	862,137
	
	902,354
	
	4,470
	
	8,971
	
	(1,933)
	
	(282)
	
	(10,170)
	
	(5,314)
	
	854,504
	
	905,729

	Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	72,355
	
	18,127

	Distribution cost 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(276,384)
	
	(279,412)

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(186,394)
	
	(179,034)

	Profit from operating activities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	464,081
	
	465,410

	Finance income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	4,217
	
	3,293

	Finance costs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(95,584)
	
	(50,217)

	Share of profit of investment in joint
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  venture
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	1,143
	
	10,490

	Profit before tax expense 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	373,857
	
	428,976

	Tax expense 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(89,955)
	
	(93,866)

	Profit for the period 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	283,902
	
	335,110


Major segmental assets and liabilities belong to property development segment.
The following table shows the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied as at the end of the reporting period.

28. LITIGATION
In 2015, the Company and 6 co-defendants were sued by an individual and 6 co-individuals. The Company is sued as the fifth defendant under the Civil Court. The plaintiffs sued the Company to withdraw juristic act in purchasing land from administrator without their consent by sued civil case amount of claim Baht 25.00 million. Subsequently, on September 27, 2017, the Civil Court instance dismissed such case. However, on August 8, 2018, the Civil court (on behalf of The Court of Appeals) interrogated an appointment and the plaintiffs request for a fee waived to appeal. On October 9, 2018, the Company appealed to the Appeal Court and objected such request to the plaintiffs. Subsequently, on May 1, 2019, the Appeal Court reaffirmed the Civil Court dismissed such case. However the plaintiffs did not file a petition to the Supreme Court within the time limit, resulting in the case ending. The Company’s management believes that there is no losses as a result of this litigation, and they do not set aside any provision for contingent liabilities in the financial statements.
29. RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain reclassifications have been made in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2019 to conform to the classifications used in the consolidated and separate statement statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 as follows:
Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

	
	
	comprehensive income

	
	
	For the three-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	
	Before
reclassification 
	
	Reclassification 
	
	After reclassification

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other income
	
	8,481
	
	(836)
	
	7,645

	Finance income
	
	-
	
	836
	
	836


Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

	
	
	comprehensive income

	
	
	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	
	Before
reclassification 
	
	Reclassification 
	
	After reclassification

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other income
	
	21,420
	
	(3,293)
	
	18,127

	Finance income
	
	-
	
	3,293
	
	3,293




Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	The separate statement of profit or loss and other

	
	
	comprehensive income

	
	
	For the three-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	
	Before
reclassification 
	
	Reclassification 
	
	After reclassification

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other income
	
	22,289
	
	(15,427)
	
	6,862

	Finance income
	
	-
	
	15,427
	
	15,427


Unit : Thousand Baht
	
	
	The separate statement of profit or loss and other

	
	
	comprehensive income

	
	
	For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019

	
	
	Before
reclassification 
	
	Reclassification 
	
	After reclassification

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other income
	
	58,072
	
	(42,232)
	
	15,840

	Finance income
	
	-
	
	42,232
	
	42,232


30. EVENT  AFTER  THE  REPORTING  PERIOD
30.1 On September 3, 2020, The Executive Committees' meeting no. 10/2563 passed resolutions to issue and offer long-term, secured, name-registered, unsubordinated debentures and have bondholders' representatives amounting to Baht 559 million for its working capital.                  The Company issued such debentures on October 15, 2020. Such debentures have maturity date on April 8, 2022 with a fixed interest rate 6.75% p.a., payable quarterly and guaranteed by the Company's land with its construction and a subsidiary's condominium. 
30.2	On September 10, 2020, The Executive Committees' meeting no. 12/2563 passed resolutions to issue and offer long-term, secured, name-registered, unsubordinated debentures and have bondholders' representatives amounting to Baht 135 million for its working capital. The Company issued on on October 29, 2020. Such debentures have maturity date on January 28, 2022 with a fixed interest rate at 6.85% p.a., payable quarterly and guaranteed by the Company’s land and a Company ’s condominium.
31.	APPROVAL  OF  THE  INTERIM  FINANCIAL  INFORMATION
These interim financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on November 5, 2020.
